### The University of Southern Mississippi

# The Aguila Digital Community

Master's Theses

Spring 2-15-2022

The impact of formal education, specialized training, and offense type on perceptions of employability: Can bias toward hiring a person with a criminal history be mitigated?

Rheanna Standridge

Follow this and additional works at: https://aquila.usm.edu/masters\_theses



Part of the Counseling Psychology Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Standridge, Rheanna, "The impact of formal education, specialized training, and offense type on perceptions of employability: Can bias toward hiring a person with a criminal history be mitigated?" (2022). Master's Theses. 874.

https://aquila.usm.edu/masters\_theses/874

This Masters Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by The Aquila Digital Community. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of The Aquila Digital Community. For more information, please contact aquilastaff@usm.edu.

# THE IMPACT OF FORMAL EDUCATION, SPECIALIZED TRAINING, AND OFFENSE TYPE ON PERCEPTIONS OF EMPLOYABILITY: CAN BIAS TOWARD HIRING A PERSON WITH A CRIMINAL HISTORY BE MITIGATED?

by

Rheanna L. Standridge, B.A.

A Thesis
Submitted to the Graduate School,
the College of Education and Human Sciences
and the School of Psychology
at The University of Southern Mississippi
in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements
for the Degree of Master of Arts

Approved by:

Melanie E. Leuty, Ph.D., Committee Chair Ashley B. Batastini, Ph.D. Richard Mohn, Ph.D.

## **COPYRIGHT BY**

Rheanna L. Standridge, B.A.

2022

# Published by the Graduate School



#### **ABSTRACT**

Gaining employment for returning citizens has been shown to reduce recidivism and contribute to a successful community reintegration. Yet, many employers remain skeptical when it comes to hiring formerly incarcerated job candidates for a variety of reasons. Though hesitations are often related to assumptions about a person's dangerousness, there remain legitimate reasons, such as limited formal education and basic skills, that prevent returning citizens from finding work. Further, previous research suggests that hiring decisions are confounded by offense type, even if an employer would otherwise consider a person with a criminal history. Thus, it is unclear whether returning citizens' level of education or training can mitigate barriers related to their offense history. Therefore, using hypothetical case vignettes of a formerly incarcerated job applicant, this study aimed to address this gap in the literature by examining whether hiring decisions are influenced by the presence (or absence) of basic education, specialized training, and offense type. A between-subjects design with a sample of 223 individuals were recruited via MTurk. Main effects and interactions were examined using a multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA). Results yielded non-significant findings for the examining offense type by education. Results examining offense type, having a GED, and having a vocational certificate, yielded significant findings for vocational certificate status, however there were non-significant results for offense type, GED status, or interactions of GED and vocational certificate. These findings demonstrated the continued stigmatization that persons with a criminal history face when trying to obtain a job, as this study shows that having no formal education, a GED, or a GED and vocational certificate does not matter for hiring decisions. Yet, findings suggest that individuals with a vocational certificate are viewed to exhibit more positive work expectations. Implication and future directions are provided in the discussion.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
LIST OF TABLES	. vi
CHAPTER I - INTRODUCTION	1
Academic-focused Programs	10
Vocational-Specific Training in Correctional Settings	11
Factors Associated with Employer Willingness to Hire a Person with a Criminal	
History	13
The Effect of Criminal Offense Type	13
The Possible Interaction Effect of Acquired Education and Job Skills	14
CHAPTER II – PRESENT STUDY	16
CHAPTER III - METHOD	18
Data Preparation and Preliminary Analyses	23
Primary Analyses	25
CHAPTER IV – DISCUSSION	29
Limitations	33
Implications and Future Directions	35
Conclusion	39
– IRB Approval Letter	41
-Electronic Informed Consent Pilot Study	42

-Pilot Study Hypothetical Applicant Vignettes	44
-Qualtrics Survey Items Pilot Study	45
-Electronic Informed Consent Main Study	47
-Main Study Hypothetical Applicant Vignettes	49
-Qualtrics Survey Items Main Study	54
APPENDIX H–Table 1 and 2	57
REFERENCES	59

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Means and Correlations for dependent variables	. 57
Table 2 Means (Standard Deviations) across conditions for study variables	. 58

#### CHAPTER I - INTRODUCTION

As of 2017, approximately 1.4 million people make up the United States prison population and 418,000 people were admitted on new court commitments (Bronson & Carson, 2019). Around 95% of inmates are eventually released (Atkin & Armstrong, 2013), which results in a large influx of the prison population returning to society, with approximately 80 percent released to parole supervision (Hughes & Wilson, 2020). An enormous amount of research has been devoted to examining recidivism rates, most of which have suggested largely consistent rates over the past two decades. For example, Langan and Levin (2002) conducted a national study examining over 272,000 inmates released in 1994 and found that around 68% of released offenders were re-arrested within three years of being released. A 2018 update of prisoner recidivism found rates similar to those identified by Langan and Levin (2002) over twenty years ago (Alper et al., 2018). These estimates continued to suggest that about 68% of those released re-offend within 3 years, 79% within 6 years, and 83% within 9 years (Alper et al., 2018). Additionally, Nally and colleagues (2014) conducted a 5-year follow-up study from 2005-2009 and found that 32.7% of 684 offenders eventually committed a new crime. Further, they found that an offender's education and post-release employment correlated significantly with recidivism. These findings suggest that returning citizens face many obstacles that increase the likelihood of reoffending if not overcome. As evidenced by Nally et al. (2014), one of the most salient challenges for justice-involved individuals is finding and obtaining legitimate employment. Securing employment after being released directly contributes to a successful transition back into society, reduces the chance of reoffending, and is essential in their long-term desistence from criminal justice contacts (Atkin & Armstrong, 2013; La Vigne & Kachnowski, 2005).

Effectively managing recidivism among justice-involved persons is a high priority for correctional administrators, policymakers, and the general public. The Risk-Need-Responsivity (RNR; Andrews et al., 1990) model has become the most evidence-based model of risk assessment and management. The RNR model is divided into three principles that aim to identify an offender's overall level of risk (and therefore intensity and dosage of interventions required), determine changeable (i.e., dynamic) factors (or needs) that can be targeted in treatment, and deliver interventions in a manner best suited to the learning style and other unique characteristics of the offender (responsivity). The Risk principle of the RNR model (Bonta & Andrews, 2017) is based on research that has identified the variables most predictive of criminal behavior. These factors have been referred to as the "Central Eight" (2017). The "Central Eight" are further divided into the "Big Four" (i.e., criminal history, antisocial personality disorder or traits, antisocial cognitions, and antisocial peer influence) and the "Moderate Four" (i.e., poor work or educational achievement, substance abuse, family or marital problems, and unproductive leisure/recreation time). While core antisocial characteristics are the driving force behind continued criminal activity, poor work or educational achievement is a consistent, significant predictor of recidivism and a number of scholars have underscored that obtaining employment is a key factor for reducing recidivism (Brenda et al., 2005; Sampson & Laub, 2003; Tripodi et al., 2010). When followed, the RNR model has shown to be effective in reducing recidivism among a variety of offender types by up to

35% (e.g., Andrews & Bonta, 2007; Andrews & Bonta, 2010; Andrews & Bonta, 2012; Taxman et al., 2006).

Beyond research supporting the importance of work for successful reintegration into society, most returning citizens on community supervision are mandated to obtain full-time employment within a certain timeframe or risk violating the terms of their supervision, which could lead to fines or reincarceration. Yet, returning citizens may experience difficulty in obtaining employment due to a variety of reasons, including biases held by employers when reporting their criminal record (Graffam et al., 2008), lack of educational requirements (e.g., GED or certifications) and relevant job skills (Ju & Pacha, 2012), or limited accessibility of resources (e.g., transportation, internet access; Batastini et al., 2019). The present study aims to better understand the association between education and training, offense type, and perceptions of employability for job applicants who are justice-involved. The following sections will summarize relevant factors associated with a returning citizen's ability to obtain employment post release and consider the role of offense type.

#### Bias as a Barrier to Employment

While stable and legal employment plays a crucial part in ensuring a person with a criminal history does not re-offend, the unemployment rate for individuals with a criminal history is significantly higher than the general unemployment rate. This discrepancy was highlighted in a recent Prison Policy Initiative report titled "Out of Prison & Out of Work" in which it was reported that the unemployment rate for those with a criminal history was 27.3% compared to only 5.2% for the general public within the same year (Couloute & Kopf, 2018). One factor contributing to these higher rates of

unemployment are employer perceptions of job applicants with criminal records (e.g., Graffam et al., 2008; Marvin, 2006; Pager, 2003). Research has shown that employer biases toward returning citizens, such as a belief that they lack interpersonal skills and training or would make coworkers and customers uncomfortable, may be contributing to lower rates of employment for this group (Giguere & Dundes, 2002). Therefore, employer bias is a legitimate barrier to obtaining employment among applicants with a criminal history.

Stigma, prejudice, or discrimination is not an uncommon experience for many groups; however, individuals with offense histories are arguably among the most ostracized populations. Previous research has shown that individuals who associate negative attitudes and thoughts with people with a criminal history are more likely to exclude them from social gatherings and are far less likely to want to hire them (Pager, 2003). The stigma that these individuals experience has the potential to cause detrimental personal, social, and economic effects such as being passed over for a job and, consequently, turning to illegal means of work. Illegitimate work opportunities place returning citizens (especially when under community supervision) at higher risk for reincarceration, thereby increasing taxpayer dollars to house them behind bars. Alternatively, individuals may not work at all, resulting in increased free time (which is problematic as unproductive leisure time is a component in the Central Eight factors of criminal behavior), financial hardship that impacts secure housing, the ability to pay required supervision fees, and a host of other basic needs.

In general, people tend to view those with a criminal history as a homogenous group and often make assumptions about how an individual from this group is likely to

behave based on pre-existing beliefs (Snider & Reysen, 2014). For instance, a belief that all people with a criminal history are dangerous, or manipulative, is likely to generalize to judgments about any returning citizen. As a hypothetical example, imagine Sarah has been exposed to sensationalized media coverage of people committing heinous crimes or watches a lot of Law and Order. Due to the way justice-involved individuals are often portrayed, Sarah may be more likely to attribute negative connotations to any individual who she learns has a criminal record. In fact, the manner in which the media tends to report about or showcase offending populations can inform perceptions and create negative public attitudes (Rosenstiel et al., 2011). Employers are not exempt from holding these generalist perceptions. More specific to the job setting, employers may view returning citizens as a potential liability of harm towards other employees and customers (Hickox, 2011). Undoubtedly, this perceived liability makes it harder for returning citizens to obtain and maintain employment when they may have otherwise been qualified for the position.

Negative public perceptions are an inherent problem when a returning citizen's criminal history is revealed. With the requirement by many employers to report criminal history, it is a status that is difficult to hide. Research supports that employers are unlikely to hire people with a criminal background based on biased beliefs related to their criminal status. For instance, Batastini, Bolanos, and Morgan (2014) found that hypothetical job applicants described as having a criminal background and a history of mental illness were deemed the least desirable applicant to hire. Extending this research, results of a follow-up study (Batastini et al., 2017) again indicated that individuals with both a criminal record and a known mental illness were far less likely to be hired,

followed by the job applicant described as only having a criminal history. Interestingly, despite a lower desire to hire the criminal history applicant (without a mental illness), this applicant was nonetheless perceived by participants to be as good of a potential worker as the control applicant. It appears that some factors may help minimize employer bias. In Batastini et al. (2014), for example, a training component highlighting the benefits of employment of returning citizens improved the chances that the applicant with a criminal history would be hired, such that participants were just as likely say they would hire the returning citizen as the person without a criminal history. Notably, this finding was not replicated in Batastini et al. (2017) when the sample consisted of individuals with hiring experience.

Additional research has shown that, while employers are reluctant to hire individuals with a criminal history, they tend to feel more comfortable hiring them if significant time passes since the commission of the crime and if they have some previous work experience (Fahey et al., 2006). Furthermore, employers who do hire returning citizens despite their criminal record, tend to report that the individual is just as hardworking as the general population (Lutman et al., 2015). Perhaps employers are willing to hire someone with a criminal background provided that the individual possess the skills needed to be successful in the position, such as having educational training.

#### **Educational and Training Gaps for Returning Citizens**

Importantly, barriers to seeking employment for justice-involved or formerly justice-involved persons are not isolated to the negative perceptions of employers; some concerns employers have about hiring individuals with criminal histories are legitimate. Previous studies have demonstrated that persons with a criminal history are more likely

to return to criminal behavior because they lack the training and educational skills necessary to obtain employment (e.g., Kachnowski, 2005; Tyler & Kling, 2006). In the current labor market, most jobs require a high school diploma, work skills relative to the position, and/or prior work experience (Holzer & Lerman, 2009). Over 40% of inmates in the United States are estimated to lack a high school diploma or a General Educational Development (GED) degree, compared to only 18% of the general population (Contardo & Tolbert, 2008). In addition to general educational qualifications, employers report that basic job skills are another essential competent of quality work performance (see Carnevale et al., 1990; Holzer, 1996; Ju & Pacha, 2012) as most jobs require proficient reading, writing, and mathematical abilities. However, a previous study found that only 3 out of 10 inmates are proficient in these skills (Petersilia, 2001). According to the National Adult Literacy Survey, roughly 70% of incarcerated adults cannot read beyond a 4<sup>th</sup> grade level (Troyatlms, 2016). Given that most people who come in contact with the criminal justice system are undereducated and unskilled compared to the general population, opportunities to secure employment are therefore more limited (Contardo & Tolbert, 2008). Further, previous research has shown that an individual's coping skills and ability to sustain employment decreases the more time spent in prison (Contardo & Tolbert, 2008). Lengthier detention periods are associated with more serious convictions. Therefore, a lack of training and educational skills coupled with longer incarceration times are perhaps especially damaging to the future employability of returning citizens, ultimately placing them at higher risk for recidivism. The present study aims to better understand the importance of educational level and specific job skills to employment decisions for persons with a criminal history, particularly when the applicant's offense

history is violent. The following sections review the necessity, general availability, and efficacy of educational, general job preparation, and specific vocational training opportunities afforded to incarcerated persons. Of note, the availability and quality of these types of programs can vary widely across institutions.

#### General Job and Employability Skills Training

The U.S. Department of Labor Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills acknowledged three skill sets that employers value in their employees: basic skills, thinking skills, and personal qualities (Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills, 1991). Basic skills include academic abilities such as reading, writing, and mathematical skills, as well as interpersonal skills like good communication and social skills (Cerda et al., 2015; Varghese, 2009). Thinking skills focus on the potential that an applicant can learn new tasks, follow instructions, and make decisions (Robinson, 2000). Lastly, personal qualities include the ability to be honest, show respect, be on time, and value safety procedures (Ju & Pacha, 2012). According to Robinson (2000), these employability skills are imperative for gaining, upholding, and performing well on a job. Therefore, it is important that correctional systems assist returning citizens in acquiring or refining these baseline skills before hitting the job market.

However, returning citizens may not necessarily agree about the extent to which education and these basic skills are necessary for job attainment. One qualitative study using semi-structured interviews with 12 individuals with criminal histories and 22 non-offender professionals who frequently interact with justice-involved persons (i.e., as employees within the criminal justice system, accommodation and housing sectors, employment support services, and offender rehabilitation programs) examined

respondents' perceptions towards variables that affect successful community reintegration (Graffam et al., 2004). Professionals were specifically asked to report on the factors they believed affected an offender's transition into society, while offenders were asked to report on the factors they believed promoted success or failure back into society. Notable differences emerged across groups in terms of the factors deemed most crucial. Several offenders acknowledged that readiness to change was a key factor while professionals made no acknowledgement of readiness. For example, one respondent with a criminal history reported that "Readiness is the factor, more than education, social skills, finance, even motivation" (Graffam et al., 2004, p. 156). In fact, none of the justice-involved participants mentioned lack of education or poor academic skills as important. Contrary, several professionals identified that a lack of education (e.g., literacy) or poor academic skills were factors that were important and potentially could impede successful reintegration (Graffam et al., 2004). This difference in opinion between offenders and professionals demonstrates that, while offenders may think education and basic skills are less significant, professionals' value these qualities as important to reintegration (Graffam et al., 2004). Importantly, while it appears justiceinvolved persons did not view formal education as necessary in and of itself, many considered it a step toward increasing their readiness or resolve for change. Readiness to change has been shown to be important for returning citizens in both job acquisition and retention (Graffam et al., 2004).

Correctional settings commonly offer reentry preparation programs in which basic job and interpersonal skills, such as those described above, are taught to the returning citizens. Severson et al., (2012) examined a total of 357 individuals; 125 of whom did

not complete a reentry program and 232 who completed a reentry program between 2006 and 2009. Results indicated that program completers were statistically significantly less likely to recidivate compared to individuals who did not complete the reentry program, suggesting these programs are beneficial. Other studies (e.g., Braga et al., 2009; Clark & Duwe, 2015; Duwe, 2012) have found similar outcomes when assessing the efficacy of re-entry programs. In addition to baseline skill development, incarcerated individuals often have the opportunity to obtain formal education and training through academic-focused programs and specialized vocational certifications.

#### **Academic-focused Programs**

Most jobs require at least a high school diploma or a GED and many jobs for which returning citizens are being prepared (e.g., automechanics, HVAC installation, welding) also require certification. According to Travis (2011), approximately two out of five inmates fall below the literacy level compared to one of five in the general population. According to the National Former Prisoner Survey (2018), over a quarter of returning citizens do not have a high school diploma or GED. This lack of basic education and literacy skills posits several obstacles for returning citizens, including barriers to employment.

Currently in the US prison system, there are a variety of prison education programs that aim to assist prisoners in obtaining the necessary education and training to aid their release back into society and obtain employment. Literacy programs, for example, help prisoners prepare for the GED exam. GED courses require inmates to study at least 240 hours, including a practice test, before taking an official test (Harlow, 2003). Throughout the United States, including federal, state, and private facilities,

around 90 percent of correctional institutions offer some type of educational program, including GED classes (Coley& Barton, 2006). GED programs allow inmates to acquire marketable skills and increase their potential for employment after release.

Participating in GED programs while incarcerated can be advantageous, as research has shown earning a GED reduces recidivism rates. As an example, Nuttall et al., (2003) compared recidivism rates for inmates who a) had a high school diploma or GED before incarceration, b) inmates who did not obtain a GED while incarcerated, and c) inmates who obtained a GED while incarcerated. Results indicated that inmates who participated in a GED program while incarcerated returned to custody at a significantly lower rate compared to those who did not obtain a GED (Nuttall et al., 2003). Specifically, 68.2 percent of inmates who earned a GED did not return to custody. Additionally, previous studies (Brennan et al., 2009; Jensen & Reed, 2006) have found that education (e.g., obtaining a GED) is linked to lower levels of recidivism.

Vocational-Specific Training in Correctional Settings

Beyond academic-focused programs, research has shown that specific job skill trainings, often obtained through vocational certifications, can lessen the barriers of obtaining employment for returning citizens. According to Atkin and Armstrong (2013), an estimated one-third of inmates have no work history six months before being incarcerated, and inmates who did have prior work history typically reported jobs in auto mechanics, food industries, maintenance, and construction. The Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) and most state prison systems currently offer inmates the opportunity to participate in vocational training, also known as career technical education programs, to develop skills in a specific field (e.g., aeromechanics, cosmetology, cooking). Duwe and

Clark (2014) examined the effectiveness of vocational training programs on recidivism and employment outcomes for 9,394 released inmates from Minnesota prisons between 2007 and 2008. Contrary to what might be expected, a secondary degree (e.g., GED) significantly increased the chances of obtaining employment, but earning a post-secondary degree in a specific vocation while in prison did not significantly increase the odds of obtaining employment. However, results showed that those who earned a post-secondary degree were more successful at maintaining employment once hired. On the contrary, Davis and colleagues (2013) found that individuals who participated in either academic or vocational training during incarceration had greater rates of employment (e.g., 13% higher) post-release, while those with vocational training specifically had the highest rates (e.g., 28% higher) of obtaining employment compared to inmates who did not participate in vocational training.

More recently, a 2018 study by Formon et al., initially hypothesized that individuals with a criminal history would still lack the ability to obtain employment even with vocational training. However, their hypothesis was unsupported. Instead, they found that individuals who had completed vocational training, regardless of whether they had a criminal history or not, were able to secure employment with no significant differences in starting salary or their ability to hold employment for one year. Their findings suggest that vocational training aids in the process of obtaining employment for offenders and non-offenders alike. Although there is evidence that vocational programs may help overcome hiring biases, other potentially relevant factors such as the type of criminal conviction (e.g., violent vs. non-violent) or the length of time spent in the community since release may influence employer hiring decisions.

Factors Associated with Employer Willingness to Hire a Person with a Criminal History

The Effect of Criminal Offense Type

While obtaining employment is the key factor for returning citizens and limited education, lack of job skills, unstable work histories, and access to resources clearly serve as barriers in this process, research has also pointed to more static influences on hiring decisions. That is, factors for which the offender cannot work to change. One such factor is the severity of the offense(s) on an applicant's criminal record. Broadly speaking, there are two general categories of criminal activity: violent and non-violent. Violent offenses are those that cause or threaten harm against another person and include sexual assault, robbery, assault, and murder, among others. Non-violent offenses are those perpetrated against property without the use of threat or bodily harm towards a specific person or socalled victimless offenses like drug possession or prostitution. Non-violent crimes also include vandalism, arson, theft, and burglary. Research findings are mixed on employer willingness to hire persons with a criminal history, but one consistent finding is that the type of offense matters in hiring decisions (Atkin & Armstrong, 2013; Giguere & Dundes 2002; Varghese et al., 2010). Giguere and Dundes (2002) examined employer attitudes towards hiring an ex-offender and how offense type, length of incarceration, and gender affected employer decisions to hire. Results indicated that employers were more likely to overlook non-violent offenses and drug-related charges, while applicants with a violent offense history (i.e., murder, robbery, rape) were passed over entirely. Atkin et al. (2013) found evidence that, on average, 80% of employers expressed an unwillingness to hire an ex-offender with a violent offense history across a range of offenses; however, a comparatively lower percentage (53%) were unwilling to hire an ex-offender with a nonviolent burglary offense. As discussed, educational and job-specific qualifications may help an ex-offender obtain employment; however, to what extent are these programs useful when someone has a violent criminal past?

The Possible Interaction Effect of Acquired Education and Job Skills

Decades of previous literature on employer attitudes toward hiring a person with a criminal history have examined the impact of a variety of variables and situations (e.g., race, gender, age, offense type, years incarcerated, previous work experience vs. no experience). While findings have been mixed (see Cerda et al., 2015; Giguere & Dundes, 2002; Varghese et al., 2010), it is clear that returning citizens who have higher qualifications (e.g., GED, certifications, job skills) are more likely to obtain employment post release, suggesting these qualifications are crucial in the decision to hire a person with a criminal history. Yet, there may be an important interaction between education, job qualifications, and past offense history. One study found that having basic skills, such as reading and writing skills, increased employability for applicants with a misdemeanor (typically non-violent offenses) while qualifications (i.e., high school graduate, previous work experience, completion of 10<sup>th</sup> grade) did not increase employability for individuals with a felony charge (Varghese et al., 2010). While this study sheds light on the employer's willingness to hire persons with a misdemeanor offense history, further investigation is needed to understand why specialized qualifications did not help the applicant with a felony charge. More recently, however, the work of Formon et al. (2018) demonstrated that the completion of vocational training may be able to diminish any differences in hiring based on offense type. In their study, comprised of 1,075 exoffenders, having a felony or a misdemeanor offense if paired with a vocational certificate, did not impact employability.

In another study on job-specific qualifications, Cerda et al., (2015) found that hypothetical applicants applying for a cashier position with a violent offense history and high qualifications for the position received lower employability ratings compared to applicants with high qualifications and a nonviolent offense type. In this study, having high qualifications was operationalized as having previous work experience as a cashier at CVS pharmacy for 1.5 years; low qualifications was operationalized as previous work experience as a janitor at Burger King for 1.5 years. These findings suggest that possessing more relevant job qualifications do not necessarily help applicants with violent criminal histories but may help applicants with nonviolent histories. The current study will add to this literature by examining whether the presence of a violent or nonviolent felony charge differentially effects participants' willingness to hire a person with a criminal history and whether any difference by offense type can be mitigated by educational and vocational training. By evaluating the interaction between educational training and offense type, we will have a clearer sense about the extent to which individuals are in fact experiencing barriers to employment even when they possess the necessary job qualifications.

#### CHAPTER II - PRESENT STUDY

Given the difficulties many returning residents have in re-entering the workforce successfully, the primary aim of this study was to expand the field's understanding about whether particular training and educational opportunities improve the likelihood of hire when the applicant reports a criminal background. Furthermore, because literature suggests that having a violent offense history negatively influences employers' willingness to hire applicants with a criminal history (Albright & Denq, 1996, Holzer et al., 2007), this study examined the influence of offense type (i.e., violent vs. nonviolent) on hiring decisions. Specifically, this study addressed felony charges as a barrier to employability as previous literature has identified that most employers are unwilling to hire applicants with a felony criminal past (Giguere & Dundes, 2002; Holzer et al., 2007; Varghese et al., 2010).

Using standardized vignettes of a hypothetical applicant described as having either a violent (i.e., threat or force towards a victim) or non-violent (i.e., no threat or force towards a victim) conviction, this study also varied the applicant's training and educational background across conditions. Regarding specialized training and/or education, the job applicant was described as either having (1) only a General Educational Development (GED) degree, the equivalent to a high school diploma, (2) only a job-specific certification (i.e., for automechanics), (3) both a GED and certification, or (4) neither a GED or certification. Participants were randomly assigned to one of these eight conditions and asked to provide their perceptions of the applicant and how likely they would be to hire him. Therefore, this study represents a 2 (violent, non-violent) x 4 (GED, certification, both, or neither) between-subjects design.

Because education and job-specific training tend to lead to successful employment (Erisman & Contardo, 2005), it was first hypothesized that the applicant with both a GED and an automechanics certificate would be rated as more likely to be hired, perceived to exhibit more positive work-related behaviors, and warranted less need for social distance than the applicant with only a GED or a certificate, regardless of offense type. Second, because having a violent offense history often negatively influences employers' willingness to hire, it was hypothesized that the applicant with a violent offense type, regardless of education or training, would be rated as least likely to be hired, perceived as having more negative work-related behaviors, and warranted greater social distance than the applicant with a nonviolent offense. Third, an interaction between training/education and offense type was expected such that applicants with neither a GED and an automechanics certificate and a violent offense history would be rated as least likely to be hired, perceived as having more negative work-related behaviors, and warranted greater social distance than the applicant with a nonviolent offense.

Our main goal was to gain a better understanding of the effects of education and determine the importance of offense type in relation to obtaining a job post-release.

Results from this study presents fundamental ideas underlying stigma towards individuals with a criminal history and potentially inform programming efforts on creating more readily accessible educational and certificate trainings while incarcerated.

#### CHAPTER III - METHOD

#### **Participants**

A total of 223 surveys were analyzed. A majority of participants identified as a man (65.3%) and White/Caucasian (71.6%). The mean age of participants was 38.66 years old. Participants for this study were recruited through Amazon's Mechanical Turk (MTurk), a crowdsourcing site owned by Amazon allows individuals to complete human intelligence tasks (HITs) for a fee. MTurk has been shown to yield diverse national samples (Heen et al., 2014). Participants were eligible to complete the study if they were 18 years of age or older and were fluent in English. Participants who do not meet these criteria were ineligible to participate. The estimated sample size of 179, determined using G\*Power assuming a medium effect size of 0.25 and power of 0.80 with a total of eight conditions and two dependent variables, was exceeded to account for missing or unusable data.

#### **Procedure**

Approval from the University of Southern Mississippi's human subjects review board was obtained prior to initiating the main study (Appendix A) and pilot testing the hypothetical vignettes. The survey was developed using Qualtrics, an online survey platform.

On the MTurk page, participants were provided with brief details about the study, opportunities for compensation, estimated survey length, and eligibility criteria.

Additional MTurk controls were set to include Masters only workers (i.e., those who have a 95% HITs approval rate), and have completed over 50 HITs. Additionally, IP addresses within the United States only were allowed as Kennedy et al. (2020) found that

most fraudulent responses were individuals outside of the U.S. Individuals meeting these criteria and who were interested in participating were instructed to click a unique hyperlink that redirected them to the qualtrics-hosted study. First, participants were provided a full informed consent form (see Appendix E), and by clicking "I consent and wish to participate in this study," indicated their consent. After consenting to participate in the study, participants were asked the following eligibility questions:

- 1. How old are you? (values under 18 were ineligible to participate)
- 2. Are you fluent in English? ("no" responses were ineligible to participate)

  Participants who answered appropriately to both eligibility questions were then randomly assigned to one of the eight conditions that varied based on the type of crime (violent vs. nonviolent) and the level of education/training (GED only, auto mechanic certification only, both, or neither).

After random assignment, participants read and listened to an auto-recording of a hypothetical vignette about a potential applicant for an entry-level automotive technician (See Appendix E). Given that most individuals with a criminal history are male, the gender presented in the vignettes suggested a male by using the pronoun "he" and the name Wesley, which was created from an online random name generator set to average popularity. To control for potential biases related to race and ethnicity, Wesley's racial identity was not specified. All information presented in the vignette was identical across conditions except the offense type (i.e., burglary or robbery) and extent of education/training (GED only, Auto Mechanic certification only, both, or neither). Burglary and robbery were chosen for this study because both offenses involve theft; however, robbery is considered a violent offense given the fact that the theft involves

direct threat or harm towards a person while burglary is committed without direct harm towards a person. Therefore, the use of these offenses minimized extraneous differences that may otherwise be attributed to the intent or purpose of the act.

Prior to the main analyses, a pilot study was conducted using a sample of undergraduate students (N = 104) recruited through the researcher's university's Sonasystems account to ensure the two offense types presented in the vignettes were in fact perceived differently; that is, that the violent offense (robbery) was rated as a more serious behavior than then non-violent offense (burglary). Results suggested that the violent offense was viewed as more severe than the non-violent offense type (t = -2.515, p = .013).

For the study, all eight vignettes presented indicated that the individual was released on parole due to good behavior. After reading the hypothetical vignette, participants were instructed to answer several questions specific to their perceptions of Wesley and his appropriateness for the job. Participants were asked to respond to these questions as if they were in charge of deciding whether to hire Wesley. After answering employment-specific questions, participants completed a basic demographic questionnaire. Manipulation checks and validity items were also randomly placed throughout the survey to ensure attentiveness. Participants were compensated \$1.00 for completing the study. This rate was based on the U.S. federal minimum wage and estimated completion time. Compensation increased to \$1.80 to increase speed of data collection as allowable given financial support through a small grant. Participants were informed that if they did not complete the survey in its entirety, no compensation would be provided.

#### Measures

This study included an experimenter-derived question about employability, the Generic Work Behavior Questionnaire (GWBQ; Michon et al., 2004), the Social Distance Scale (SDS; Link et al., 1987), manipulation and validity checks, and a demographic form. The experimenter-derived employment item, the GWBQ, and SDS were counterbalanced; however, the demographic questionnaire appeared last in all conditions to avoid priming effects associated with extraneous individual characteristics.

*Manipulation check and validity items.* To ensure attention to the manipulation, the following multiple-choice questions were presented after exposure to the vignette: (1) "which of the following best describes Wesley's educational background?" and (2) "for what crime did Wesley serve time?". Participants who answered both validity items wrong for their study condition were removed from the survey (n = 60), not included in analyses, and were not compensated. During data cleaning, individuals answering one of the validity items incorrectly also were dropped from analyses (item 1 n = 33, item 2 n = 30), for a total of 123 responses deemed invalid.

Experimenter derived employment question. Participants were asked to rate how likely they would be to hire Wesley presented in the vignette on a scale from 0 to 100; with 0 indicating "not at all willing" and 100 indicating "completely willing" (See Appendix G).

Generic Work Behavior Questionnaire. To assess participants' perceptions of the hypothetical applicant's likely work performance, a modified version of the Generic Work Behavior Questionnaire (GWBQ; Michon et al., 2004) was used (see Batastini et al., 2014; Batastini et al., 2017). The GWBQ is an 18-item measure that includes four

subscales of work performance: task competence, initiative/self-confidence, dependability, and social work behavior. Items are presented on a bipolar scale and responses are from 1 to 5, with 1 indicating the applicant would not have the skills/quality to do this task and 5 indicating the applicant would have the skills/quality. Sample items include statements such as "Fit in easily with others (5) or not fit in easily with others" (1) and "Always follow the rules (5) or often disobey the rules (1)." The GWBQ was originally created to examine perceptions of work performance for individuals with mental illness, however, the GWBQ was used in this study to examine perceptions of work performance for persons with a criminal history (Michon et al., 2004). Participants were asked to answer these questions on how well they believe the hypothetical applicant, Wesley, would perform. Total scores were used to test the primary hypotheses. Higher total scores indicated more positive work performance expectations. This measure is reported to have good to excellent internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha ranging from .73 to .83) across subscales and total scores with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.88 (Michon et al., 2004). Further, Batastini et al. (2017) also found a strong internal consistency with their study for GWBQ total scores (Cronbach's alpha = 0.94). For the current study, an alpha of .92 was found (Table 1).

Social Distance Scale. The Social Distance Scale (SDS; Link et al.,1987;) was used to measure the amount of social distance participants would want to have between them and the applicant described in the vignette. Social distance refers to the degree in which an individual is willing to establish or maintain social contact and closeness with members of a traditionally marginalized group such as those with a criminal background or mental illness. The SDS is a seven-item measure and uses a 4-point response option

(Penn et al., 1994) with higher scores indicating less desired social distance from the applicant. The SDS was initially developed to investigate stigmatizing perceptions towards individuals with mental illnesses (Corrigan et al., 2001). However, items were edited to reflect criminal history instead of mental illnesses, as done in previous research (Batastini et al., 2014, 2017). An example of an edited item is: How willing would you be to introduce the applicant to someone you are friendly with?" Even with these minor changes to the measure, Batastini et al. (2014, 2017) reported good internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.91, as was the case for the current sample ( $\alpha = .90$ ; Table 1)

Demographic Questionnaire. The demographic questionnaire (see Appendix G) asked questions about participants' gender, race, ethnicity, age, educational background, previous criminal history, marital status, and whether they have ever had the responsibility for hiring employees.

#### Data Preparation and Preliminary Analyses

After screening for failed validity checks (n = 123) or survey incompletion (n = 4), responses from a total of 223 participants were used for analyses. Using SPSS Missing Data analysis, no data were missing at random. Univariate outliers were assessed for the SDS and the GWBQ measures by converting total scores into standardized z-scores. No cases had z-scores greater than 3.29, indicating no outliers (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013). Assumptions of normality, linearity, and homogeneity of covariance matrices were assessed, and no violations occurred.

Prior to the main analyses, preliminary analyses were conducted to ensure there were no significant between-group differences on demographic variables. A Bonferroni correction to account for multiple comparisons was used to assess for significance. No

significant between-group differences for gender, age, racial identity, and previous criminal justice involvement were found. However, there appeared to be a significant between-group difference for the interaction between previous responsibility for making hiring decisions and participant race (p = .003), such that there is an association between race and experience with making hiring decisions. Suggesting that White participants with hiring experience were less likely to hire the person.

Additionally, mean differences on the dependent variables (e.g., willingness to hire, SDS, and GWBQ scores) given participant demographics were examined to consider possible covariates. An independent-samples t-test was performed to determine significant differences for gender on the dependent variables. No significant differences were found for GWBQ total scores (p = .285), SDS total scores (p = .525) or willingness to hire the applicant (p = .516). A one-way ANOVA test was performed to determine if there were significant differences for previous criminal justice involvement on the dependent variables. Significant differences were found for SDS total scores (p = .012) given prior justice involvement; however, no significant differences were found for GWBQ total scores (p = .900) or willingness to hire the applicant (p = .239). Comparisons across categories for prior justice involvement showed a significant difference for individuals with no criminal history versus those who reported having a violent misdemeanor charge on SDS scores (p = .003), suggesting that those who identified as having a violent misdemeanor history, expressed less desired social distance towards the applicant. A one-way ANOVA test was also performed to determine significant differences for previous hiring experience on the dependent variables. Significant differences were found for SDS total scores (p = .005) and willingness to hire the applicant (p = .044); however, no significant differences were found for GWBQ total scores (p = .751). Comparisons across categories for prior hiring experience showed a significant difference for individuals with previous hiring experience versus those who reported having no hiring experience on SDS scores (p = .006), suggesting those who identified as having previous hiring experience expressed more desired social distance towards the applicant. Comparisons across categories did not show a significant difference for individuals with previous hiring experience versus those without experience on willingness to hire (p = .092).

Finally, another one-way ANOVA test was performed to determine significant differences across racial categories finding no significant differences for GWBQ total scores (p=.580) or SDS total scores (p=.362). There was a significant difference for willingness to hire the applicant (p=.030) across participant race. Comparisons across categories for race showed a significant difference for individuals who identified as African American or Black versus individuals who identified as Asian American (p=.029), suggesting those who identified as African American or Black expressed more willingness to hire the applicant. Given these findings, prior criminal history, prior hiring experience, and race were used as covariates in study analyses. An alpha level of less than 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance for all analyses.

#### **Primary Analyses**

A 2 x 4 factorial multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) procedure was performed to test the effects of education, training, and offense type, on participant's rating of how likely they would hire the hypothetical applicant, GWBQ total scores, and SDS total scores, while accounting for the covariates of previous criminal justice

involvement, past responsibility of hiring employees, and race. Pertaining to covariates, results showed a significant multivariate effect for responsibility of hiring [ $\lambda$  =.939, F(3, 210) = 4.526, p =.004)], but no significant multivariate effects for prior criminal history or race. Between-subjects effects for responsibility of hiring yielded significant effects for participants' rating of how likely they were to hire the hypothetical applicant (p = .020) and for SDS total scores (p = .002). Suggesting that individuals with previous hiring experience were more likely to hire the applicant and have less desired social distance.

It was expected that applicants with both a GED and certificate would be rated as more likely to be hired, perceived to exhibit more positive work-related behaviors, and warranted less need for social distance compared to the applicant with only a GED or a certificate, regardless of offense type. Contrary to hypotheses, results found no statistically significant multivariate effects for education between conditions [ $\lambda$  = .929, F (9, 511) = 1.752, p = .075]. Between-subject tests also found that education did not have a significant effect on willingness to hire [F(3, 212) = 1.47, p > .05] or SDS scores [F(3, 212) = .694, p > .05]. There was a significant effect of education for GWBQ scores [F(3, 212) = 3.925, p = .009]. Pairwise comparisons noted a significant difference in the mean GWBQ score for the no education condition (e.g., experience only; M = 57.91, SE = 1.31) versus the auto certificate condition (M = 63.78, SE =1.44), or both certificate and GED (M = 63.29, SE 1.32), when accounting for covariates.

Second, it was hypothesized that the applicant with a violent offense type, regardless of education or training, would be rated as least likely to be hired, perceived as having more negative work-related behaviors, and warranted greater social distance than

the applicant with a nonviolent offense. Significant multivariate differences were not detected for offense type [ $\lambda$  = .994, F(3, 210) = .404, p = .750]. Between-subjects effects found that offense type (e.g., burglary versus robbery) also did not independently relate to willingness to hire [F(1, 212) = .297, p > .05], SDS scores [F(1, 212) = 1.162, p > .05], or GWBQ scores [F(1,212) = .298, p > .05].

Additionally, a 2 x 2 x2 factorial multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) was performed to test the effects of education (GED versus no GED), training (vocational certificate versus no certificate), and offense type (burglary versus robbery) on participants' ratings of how likely they would be to hire the hypothetical applicant, GWBQ total scores, and SDS total scores. Contrary to hypotheses, MANCOVA results found no statistically significant multivariate effects for offense type,  $[\lambda = .994, F(3,210) = .404, p = .750]$ , GED education status  $[\lambda = .989, F(3,210) = .801, p = .801]$ .495], or any two-way interactions, or the three-way interaction between offense type, GED, and vocational certificate [ $\lambda = .995$ , F(3, 210) = .346, p = .792]. There was a significant multivariate effect for vocational certificate [ $\lambda = .960$ , F(3, 210) = 2.918, p =.035]. Between-subject tests found that having a vocational certificate did not have a significant effect on SDS scores [F(1, 212) = .238, p > .05] or willingness to hire ([F(1, 212) = .238, p > .05]) (212) = .3.368, p = .068]. Yet, there were a significant between-subject effect for GWBQ scores [(F(3, 212) = 7.064, p = .008)] for having a certificate. Pairwise comparisons of the estimated means, accounting for covariates, found a significant difference (p < .01) for GWBQ scores between conditions where the applicant did not have a vocational certification (M = 59.94, SE .93) versus conditions where the applicant did have a vocational certificate (M = 63.53, SE = .98). See Table 2 for means by condition.

It was hypothesized that an interaction would occur between training (having a vocational certificate) and education (having a GED or not) and offense (burglary versus robbery) such that applicants with neither a GED and an automechanics certificate and a violent offense history would be rated as least likely to be hired, perceived as having more negative work-related behaviors, and warranted greater social distance than the applicant with a nonviolent offense. Contrary to this hypothesis, results showed a non-significant multivariate effect [ $\lambda$  =.995, F(3, 210) = .346, p > .05] as well as non-significant between subject effects for willingness to hire, SDS scores, and GWBQ scores.

#### CHAPTER IV – DISCUSSION

Estimates suggest that 68% of those released from prisons in the United States reoffend within 3 years, 79% within 6 years, and 83% within 9 years (Alper et al., 2018). The inability to obtain employment for justice-involved or formerly justice-involved persons has consistently been supported as a significant predictor of recidivism (Bonta & Andrews, 2007; Brenda et al., 2005; Sampson & Laub, 2003; Tripodi et al., 2010). Further, negative perceptions from employers and the public contribute to the difficulties people with criminal histories can have getting hired, and in turn, increases one's likelihood of remaining in contact with the criminal justice system or reduces the chances of successfully completing stipulations of supervision. This study aimed to identify factors of a hypothetical job applicant that may outweigh the stigmatizing beliefs held by employers for job seekers with a criminal history. The current study was unique in its inclusion of offense history (i.e., violent versus nonviolent) and a training component (i.e., GED, vocational certificate, both, or no education).

Although other studies (e.g., Cerda et al., 2015; Pager et al., 2009) suggest factors such as basic skills, thinking skills, personal qualities, interactional styles, education, and training may positively influence employers to hire applicants with criminal histories, current results suggest otherwise. For example, Duwe and Clark (2014) examined the effectiveness of vocational training programs on recidivism and employment outcomes for 9,394 individuals released from Minnesota prisons between 2007 and 2008. Overall, they found that a secondary degree (e.g., GED) significantly increased the chances of obtaining employment, but earning a post-secondary degree in a specific vocation while

in prison did not significantly increase the odds of obtaining employment. Other studies (e.g., Albright & Denq, 1996; Atkin & Armstrong 2011; Cerda et al., 2015 Giguere & Dundes, 2002; Holzer et al., 2004), also showed that educational factors influenced hiring decisions. Contrary to hypotheses, the current study showed these education factors may not matter in hiring decisions.

No significant differences in willingness to hire were found for the applicant with a GED versus the applicant with experience only. Previous studies have found earning a GED or a vocational certificate increased employability; however, it is important to highlight that several of those studies were investigated more than a decade ago. It is possible that societal changes regarding educational expectations have changed regarding the baseline of education attainment (Rampell, 2014). Yet, it is important to note that the total means in this study suggest that there is still hesitation on willingness to hire, regardless of educational or training preparation, as means were in the 60s on a 1-100 willingness to hire scale (see table 2).

However, while no significant multivariate effects were found for having any educational experience (e.g., GED, or GED and vocational certificate) on hiring decisions, significant differences were found in GWBQ total scores based on education. Specifically, ratings of expected work skills were higher for those with a vocational certificate versus those with experience only, regardless of offense. This suggests that individuals previously incarcerated who have a vocational certificate are viewed as exhibiting more positive work-related behaviors versus individuals without this certification. Interestingly, having a GED alone was not significantly different than experience only which raises the possibility that employers are viewing specific field-

related training are more relevant to job skills than a general educational background. This result is perhaps not surprising, as a vocational certificate allows for individuals to have specific technical skills needed for a job and is therefore more specialized than a general education certificate.

Results of this study support other studies that investigated the role of a vocational certificate on hiring outcomes, suggesting that obtaining a vocational certificate does positively increase some aspects of employability (Davis et al., 2013; Formon et al., 2018). Despite increased expectations of performing well in the job via having a vocational certificate, results showed that participants were still unwilling to hire the applicant at a higher rate than those without this training, as such it appears that participants were making hiring decisions based not on the skills of the applicant, but instead on their perceptions of someone with a criminal history.

When comparing the violent and non-violent offense conditions, results again suggested that factors previously shown to influence hiring decisions did not affect hiring decisions in this study. This is inconsistent with previous studies (e.g., Atkin & Armstrong, 2013; Cerda et al., 2015; Giguere & Dundes 2002; Varghese et al., 2010). Specifically, Cerda and colleagues (2015) used the same 0 (not at all) to 100 (very much) to rating system as used in this study to rate the extent to which one would hire the hypothetical applicant in a sample collected from MTurk. In Cerda et al. (2015), ratings of willingness to hire were significantly different between an individual with a prior nonviolent (x = 50.59, SD = 24.06) versus violent crime (x = 23.77, SD = 24.34), which was not found in the current study.

A number of reasons may explain this non-significant finding regarding willingness to hire individuals with a violent versus non-violent criminal history. It is possible participants viewed the offenses as the same rather than robbery as a violent and burglary as a non-violent offense as they both involve theft. Although piloting of the vignettes suggested individuals rated robbery as a more severe crime, this data was not collected on the final sample in MTurk. For example, the MTurk sample was primarily White males who were middle-aged (i.e., 35-40s) while the pilot sample was primarily younger-aged White females (i.e., 18-24). Although both offenses may have been viewed the same, it is important to highlight that non-significant differences in willingness to hire regardless of the severity of the crime likely reflect preconceived notions people have towards people with offense histories regardless of the offense or other positive attributes, such as education and specialized training, these individuals' possess (Corrigan et al., 2001; Pager, 2003). Despite non-significant differences for willingness to hire by offense type, overall means for each condition were higher than the means reported in Cerda and colleagues' study (2015) as noted above. Means found in this study for the non-violent and violent conditions were similar to the means reported for the non-violent condition in Cerda et al., 2015 study (e.g., around 50); suggesting the possibility that participants in this study viewed both crimes included in this study as non-violent. However, perhaps individuals' willingness to hire applicants with criminal histories has increased since the 2015 study was published, regardless of the applicant's original offense type. One possibility is that participant's judgments were influenced by their own personal history. Preliminary analyses found that persons with prior hiring experience were more willing to hire applicants with a criminal history and desired less

social distance from them. Perhaps these individuals have hired or worked with a person with a criminal past and had a positive experience. For example, Atkin and Armstrong's (2013) research suggests that hiring managers at businesses that had previously hired an individual with a prior criminal history were more likely to hire those with criminal histories.

#### Limitations

This current study has several limitations related to sampling and measurement which should be considered before generalizing the results. First, findings are unable to generalize directly to justice-involved individuals or people making hiring decisions, rather they must be considered as contributing factors that could influence their employability. The participants of this study were recruited from a crowdsourcing site, MTurk. Almost 40 percent of participants did not have any experience with hiring decisions, and differences may have been found if this study was replicated with hiring managers. Replicating this study with hiring managers will allow for results to be generalized to real-world situations. In fact, the subgroup of participants who had previous hiring decisions were more likely to hire applicants with a criminal history. Other researched studies have examined similar variables in the context of hiring managers and have higher rates of willingness to hire (Atkin & Armstrong, 2013). It is possible that hiring managers with previous exposure hiring or working with persons previously incarcerated may be more likely to hire them (Atkin & Armstrong, 2013; Young & Powell, 2015).

Secondly, potential limitations related to the experimental prime and measurement also should be considered. Although the hypothetical vignettes were pilot

tested prior to the study, their external validity may have been limited, as such it is unclear if offenses were viewed differently from one another in the final sample. Related to measurement, this study used a 0-100 rating scale for one's likelihood of hiring the hypothetical applicant; however, other studies (Batastini et al., 2014; Batastini et al., 2017; Varghese et al., 2010) have either used a Likert scale or dichotomous yes or no question. Although other studies have used other scales to measure willingness to hire, the 0-100 rating scale was utilized in Cerda et al., 2015 and found to be a successful rating scale. Yet, it may be that while this type of rating scale allows participants greater precision in measuring their willingness to hire, there is not a clear point on this scale that reflects the decision to hire or not hire the applicant. For example, the 0-100 scale is a bit unclear as we do not know definitively a cut-off score that indicated if the participant was or was not willing to hire the applicant. Using a more definitive response option to determine if the hypothetical applicant would be hired or not, which may increase external validity of the study.

Lastly, the lack of a control condition for an applicant without a criminal history is a potential limitation. The hypothetical vignettes used in this study were varied by education, training, and offense type, thus each condition portrayed Wesley has having a criminal history. As such, it is unclear if results of this study would have varied with the inclusion of a control condition (i.e., a vignette that described Wesley has having no prior criminal history). Thus, findings can speak to the lack of differences for willingness to hire across educational qualifications or offense type for those with a criminal history, but cannot conclusions about potential differences in willingness to hire attributed specifically to having a criminal history cannot be drawn.

## Implications and Future Directions

The current study supports the need for future research on employability for those with criminal histories and the extent to which educational and training are beneficial. Discrimination has been shown as one of the main causes of unemployment for persons with criminal histories (Fletcher, 2001), and that pre-existing stigma, prejudice, and discrimination experienced by these individuals are perhaps the result of being categorized as a devalued group and seen as unemployable. While this study aimed to evaluate the role of education in mitigating discrimination and increasing employability, results showed increased educational or vocational preparation did not affect hiring ratings which suggests that the stigma related to having a criminal history has a larger impact on hiring decisions than educational or vocational preparation.

While results from the current study suggest that having an education did not impact whether the applicant was hired or not, although the applicant with a vocational certificate was perceived to be a better worker. Although this is an important finding, it does not address the problem of persons with a criminal history getting hired in the first place, rather it speaks to expectations about their performance once hired. Reducing discrimination on initial applications and increasing the likelihood of these individuals obtaining a job interview is necessary. If education and specialized training is not aiding in the applicant being hired, though they may help retain employment and reduce recidivism (Maier, 2018), correctional agencies must turn to other factors that perhaps can help decrease the discrimination applicants receive from their initial employment application.

Correctional agencies (e.g., jails, prerelease programs, post-release programs) may benefit from partnering with employment agencies to help released individuals in obtaining employment and aid in a successful reintegration into society. Potentially changing the current standards of Postsecondary Correctional Education Programs (PSCE) to include development of other skills, such as job interview skills, which may include how to discuss a criminal past, interview role-playing, resume building, and character development skills may be more efficacious for promoting hiring. Job applicants are frequently asked questions regarding their criminal history (Henry, 2008), and it is possible that stigma is associated with the applicants during the early selection process. As an example, Swanson et al., (2012) found through surveying actual hiring managers, that an applicant with a criminal past has better hiring outcomes if the applicant is prepared to discuss their qualifications for the job in an in-person interview. More recently, Graber and Zitek (2021) investigated the role of explaining a criminal record on an application versus waiting during the interview to disclose such information. Overall, they found that an applicant was more likely to be hired if an interview occurred. These findings suggest employers may be more inclined to hire an individual after an interview has been conducted versus not offering an interview after learning in their application that they have a criminal offense history. It may be beneficial for future researchers to explore the role and timing of disclosure of a criminal history has in one's willingness to offer an interview or making hiring offers to understand at which points in the application process, individuals with criminal histories are more likely to be removed from consideration.

Furthermore, reframing reentry programs and including development of prosocial values also seems like a promising avenue for reducing stigma for those with criminal histories to get them hired. In a series of experimental studies by Snider and Reysen (2014), they found that individuals were more likely to hire a hypothetical applicant with a criminal history who had completed a global citizen program rather than not. The global citizen program was framed as teaching prosocial values, social justice, and responsibility to act for the betterment of the world. Moreover, the applicant who had completed the global citizen program was rated as more honest, more likable, less desired social distance, and importantly, viewed as more similar to oneself. They concluded that increasing perceptions of an applicant as a global citizen, although with a criminal history, reduced discrimination towards applicants and blurred the line between recognizing the applicant as an in-group or an out-group member, thus increasing willingness to hire. While the participants in the study endorsed more willingness to hire the applicant, it is unclear if these programs result in higher employment offers in real life. Additionally, how reentry programs like this are best communicated to potential employers has not be explored. Therefore, future research is needed to examine the advertisement of these programs to potential employers and if prosocial skill development results in individuals with a criminal history obtaining a job at higher rates.

When it came to rating applicants regarding their expected work performance, those with a vocational certificate, regardless of education or criminal offense, were rated to have better expected work skills. Interestingly, the applicant with only a GED or both the GED and vocational certificate were not rated to have better expected work skills, suggesting that participants viewed that having a GED would not increase productive

work performance. This finding also suggests that while participants rated the applicant with only a vocational certificate as expected to have better work skills, it did not translate to being more willing to hire the applicant, to begin with. Moreover, considering that participants did not perceive the applicant with a vocational certificate and a nonviolent offense to have better work performance (compared to the applicant with a violent offense), suggests that participants may have not considered prior criminal activity as an impediment to job performance. Taken together results of the current study, and the existing research, suggest that perhaps correctional programs need to expand on vocational and skill-based reentry programs to incorporate other skill development, such prosocial skills and job interview skills, to increase the likelihood of being hired.

Additionally, maintaining vocational training programs that lead to better work performance and reduced recidivism (Brennan et al., 2009; Duwe & Clark., 2015; Jensen & Reed, 2006) is still likely a worthwhile investment.

More real-world investigation of the difficulty for those with criminal histories to be hired is needed. Because this study did not explicitly target hiring managers, future studies should investigate the differences in hiring perceptions between individuals who consistently make hiring decisions (e.g., hiring managers, supervisors) versus those who do not, or perhaps those who may be working with the individual (e.g., co-workers, the general public). For example, Batastini et al., (2014) explored willingness to hire applicants with a criminal history with lay-person participants and conducted a follow-up study in 2017 with hiring managers (Batastini et al., 2017). Means for the 2017 study with people who reported experience hiring employees were higher than those without such experience. Thus, examining the effects of education on hiring decisions with

samples of individuals who consistently make these decisions is needed. Moreover, utilizing hiring managers across different occupations would help to determine if willingness to hire a person with a criminal history depends on who is making the decisions, individualized factors of the person, or occupational context. There may be potential differences in the willingness to hire those with prior criminal histories based on the occupational educational requirements, such that occupations requiring less prior education, are low skill, do not require direct customer service (e.g., construction or custodial work) or only require basic on-the-job training may place more value on having additional education as these are beyond the minimum job requirements.

#### Conclusion

The current study sought to determine if educational attainment, specifically a GED or a vocational certificate, increased participant's willingness to hire a person with a previous criminal background. This study is unique in its inclusion of a nonviolent and violent offense. Previous research has shown that people are more likely to hire persons with a nonviolent criminal history versus those with a violent offense, as well as an increase in willingness to hire those with previous training, specialized training, and a high school diploma or the equivalent. However, this study demonstrated that, regardless of the applicant's historical offense type, having a GED and/or vocational training certificate did not appear to impact hiring decisions; despite the fact that the applicant with a vocational certificate was estimated to perform better at the job. Despite few significant differences between conditions, these findings demonstrate the importance of continued research related to the employability of persons with a criminal history as previous studies have shown that obtaining a job post-release is one of the key

indicators of recidivism. Future research would benefit from dismantling which factors are important for overcoming stigma related to having a criminal history in the hiring process to work towards solutions for reintegrating these persons into the workforce and decreasing their chances of recidivating.

## - IRB Approval Letter

# Office of Research Integrity



118 COLLEGE DRIVE #5125 • HATTIESBURG, MS | 601.266.6576 | USM.EDU/ORI

#### NOTICE OF INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD ACTION

The project below has been reviewed by The University of Southern Mississippi Institutional Review Board in accordance with Federal Drug Administration regulations (21 CFR 26, 111), Department of Health and Human Services regulations (45 CFR Part 46), and University Policy to ensure:

- · The risks to subjects are minimized and reasonable in relation to the anticipated benefits.
- The selection of subjects is equitable.
- · Informed consent is adequate and appropriately documented.
- Where appropriate, the research plan makes adequate provisions for monitoring the data collected to ensure the safety of the subjects.
- Where appropriate, there are adequate provisions to protect the privacy of subjects and to maintain the confidentiality of all data.
- · Appropriate additional safeguards have been included to protect vulnerable subjects.
- Any unanticipated, serious, or continuing problems encountered involving risks to subjects must be reported immediately. Problems should be reported to ORI via the Incident template on Cayuse IRB.
- The period of approval is twelve months. An application for renewal must be submitted for projects exceeding twelve months.
- Face-to-Face data collection may not commence without prior approval from the Vice President for Research's Office.

PROTOCOL NUMBER: IRB-20-461

PROJECT TITLE: The impact of formal education, specialized training, and offense type on perceptions of

employability: Can bias toward hiring an ex-offender be mitigated?

SCHOOL/PROGRAM: Psychology

RESEARCHER(S): Rheanna Standridge, Melanie Leuty

IRB COMMITTEE ACTION: Approved

CATEGORY: Expedited

7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

PERIOD OF APPROVAL: November 5, 2020

Donald Sacco, Ph.D.

Institutional Review Board Chairperson

Sonald Baccofr.

#### -Electronic Informed Consent Pilot Study

Please read this consent form carefully before you decide to participate in this study.

#### Purpose:

The goal of this study is to further understand employers' willingness to hire an exoffender.

## Description of Study:

You will be asked to imagine that you are responsible for making hiring decisions at your Auto mechanic shop. You will be asked to read a hypothetical vignette of a potential applicant and then be asked to answer a few questions about the applicant. You will be asked questions directly after reading the vignette to ensure you understand what is being presented to you. Failure to answer those questions correct will prompt dismissal from the study and compensation will not be provided. You will also be asked basic demographic information about yourself, none of which will be identifying.

Time required: The study should take between 5 to 10 minutes.

Benefits: There are no direct benefits to you for participating in the study.

Risks: We do not anticipate any risks associated with participating in the study.

#### Compensation:

SONA SYSTEM: You will receive 0.5 research credit for your participation in this study.

Confidentiality: Your identity will be kept confidential and your name will never be used to identify any of the information given by you. Your information will be identified by a code.

Voluntary Participation: Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. There is no penalty for not participating.

Right to withdraw from the study: During the study, you have the right to withdraw from participation. However, withdrawal before completion will result in not being compensated the research credit.

## Participants' Assurance:

This study has been reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB ensures that research projects that involve human subjects follow federal regulations.

Any questions or concerns about rights as a research participant should be directed to the Chair of the IRB at 601-266-5997.

Any questions about the research should be directed to the Principal Investigator, Rheanna Standridge, B.S. at Rheanna.standridge@usm.edu.

## -Pilot Study Hypothetical Applicant Vignettes

## 1. Burglary Control

PLEASE NOTE: When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 2 years of a 5-year prison sentence for burglary. Burglary is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place without the use of threat or force towards another individual. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience.

## 2. Robbery Control

PLEASE NOTE: When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 5 years of an 8-year prison sentence for robbery. Robbery is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place using threat or force towards another individual. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience.

## -Qualtrics Survey Items Pilot Study

# **Validity Check Items**

- 1. Which of the following best describes Wesley 's educational background?
  - a. Wesley has a GED.
  - b. Wesley has a certificate in Auto Mechanics.
  - c. Wesley has both a GED and a certificate in Auto Mechanics.
  - d. Wesley has neither.
- 2. What crime did Wesley serve time for?
  - a. Robbery
  - b. Vehicle Theft
  - c. Aggravated Assault
  - d. Burglary
- 3. What was Wesley's original sentence length?
  - a. 5 years
  - b. 6 years
  - c. 7 years
  - d. 8 years

## **Experimenter Derived Question**

- 1. Rate the seriousness of the crime: In your opinion, how serious is the crime Wesley committed?
  - a. 0-100 (0 = indicating not at all serious; 100 = indicated extremely serious)

## **Demographic Questionnaire**

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. What is your gender?
  - a. Male
  - b. Female
  - c. Other
- 3. Which race/ethnicity do you most identify with?
  - a. African American or Black
  - b. Hispanic or Latino American
  - c. Asian American
  - d. European American/Caucasian
  - e. Native American
  - f. Pacific Islander American
  - g. Middle Eastern American
  - h. Other (please specify)

- 4. What is the highest educational degree you've obtained?
  - a. Not applicable No degree earned
  - b. High school diploma or equivalent
  - c. Vocational Certifications
  - d. Associate's degree
  - e. Bachelor's degree
  - f. Master's degree
  - g. M.D.
  - h. Ph.D.
  - i. Other (please specify)

#### -Electronic Informed Consent Main Study

Please read this consent form carefully before you decide to participate in this study.

#### Purpose:

The goal of this study is to further understand employers' willingness to hire an exoffender.

#### Description of Study:

You will be asked to imagine that you are responsible for making hiring decisions at your Auto mechanic shop. You will be asked to read a hypothetical vignette of a potential applicant and then be asked to answer several questions about the applicant. You will be asked questions directly after reading the vignette to ensure you understand what is being presented to you. Failure to answer those questions correct will prompt dismissal from the study and compensation will not be provided. You will also be asked basic demographic information about yourself, none of which will be identifying.

Time required: The study should take between 10 to 15 minutes.

Benefits: There are no direct benefits to you for participating in the study.

Risks: We do not anticipate any risks associated with participating in the study.

Compensation: You will receive compensation of \$1.00 after full completion of the study. Failure to answer all questions or exiting the survey early will prompt dismissal and compensation would then not be provided.

Confidentiality: Your identity will be kept confidential and your name will never be used to identify any of the information given by you. Your information will be identified by a code.

Voluntary Participation: Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. There is no penalty for not participating.

Right to withdraw from the study: During the study, you have the right to withdraw from participation. However, withdrawal before completion will result in not being compensated.

#### Participants' Assurance:

This study has been reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB). The IRB ensures that research projects that involve human subjects follow federal regulations.

Any questions or concerns about rights as a research participant should be directed to the Chair of the IRB at 601-266-5997.

Any questions about the research should be directed to the Principal Investigator, Rheanna Standridge, B.S. at Rheanna.standridge@usm.edu.

## 1. Robbery + GED + Training

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley because he completed his General Educational Development (GED) course (a credential considered equivalent to a high school diploma) and holds an 1860-hour training certificate in Auto Mechanics. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 5 years of an 8-year prison sentence for robbery. Robbery is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place using threat or force towards another individual. Wesley also shared that he earned his GED and Auto Mechanics certificate while incarcerated. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience, meeting educational qualifications, and specialized vocational training.

## 2. Robbery + GED

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley because he completed his General Educational Development (GED) course (a credential considered equivalent to a high school diploma). During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 5 years of an 8-year prison sentence for robbery. Robbery is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place using threat or force towards another individual. Wesley also shared that he earned his GED while incarcerated. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience and meeting educational qualifications.

## 3. Robbery + Training

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley because he holds an 1860-hour training certificate in Auto Mechanics. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 5 years of an 8-year prison sentence for robbery. Robbery is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place using threat or force towards another individual. Wesley also shared that he earned his Auto Mechanics certificate while incarcerated. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience and specialized vocational training.

## 4. Robbery Control

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 5 years of an 8-year prison sentence for robbery. Robbery is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place using threat or force towards another individual. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience.

## 5. Burglary + GED + Training

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley because he completed his General Educational Development (GED) course (a credential considered equivalent to a high school diploma) and holds an 1860-hour training certificate in Auto Mechanics. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 2 years of a 5-year prison sentence for burglary. Burglary is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place without the use of threat or force towards another individual. Wesley also shared that he earned his GED and Auto Mechanics certificate while incarcerated. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience, meeting educational qualifications, and specialized vocational training.

#### 6. Burglary + GED

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley because he completed his General Educational Development (GED) course (a credential considered equivalent to a high school diploma). During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 2 years of a 5-year prison sentence for burglary. Burglary is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place without the use of threat or force towards another individual. Wesley also shared that he earned his GED while incarcerated. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience and meeting educational qualifications.

## 7. Burglary + Training

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley because he holds an 1860-hour training certificate in Auto Mechanics. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 2 years of a 5-year prison sentence for burglary. Burglary is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place without the use of threat or force towards another individual. Wesley also shared that he earned his Auto Mechanics certificate while incarcerated. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience and specialized vocational training.

## 8. Burglary Control

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 2 years of a 5-year prison sentence for burglary. Burglary is defined as unlawfully taking property from a person or place without the use of threat or force towards another individual. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience.

#### 8. Robbery Control

**PLEASE NOTE:** When reading the following description about a job applicant and responding to questions about the applicant's job-related qualifications or performance, please assume the role of the business manager at your auto mechanics shop who is responsible for making hiring decisions.

Wesley is applying for an entry-level automotive technician position at your auto mechanic shop. Wesley has previous experience working part-time at a family-owned auto mechanic shop for approximately 1 year as an apprentice. On the initial application form, Wesley endorsed having a previous felony conviction. You nonetheless decide to interview Wesley. During your interview with Wesley, he was forthcoming in revealing that he was recently released on parole due to good behavior after serving 5 years of an 8-year prison sentence for robbery. Robbery is defined as unlawfully taking property from a

person or place using threat or force towards another individual. Wesley is now applying to your entry-level position because he believes this will be a good fit considering his past job experience.

## -Qualtrics Survey Items Main Study

# **Validity Check Items**

- 1. Which of the following best describes Wesley 's educational background?
  - a. Wesley has a GED.
  - b. Wesley has a certificate in Auto Mechanics.
  - c. Wesley has both a GED and a certificate in Auto Mechanics.
  - d. Wesley has neither.
- 2. What crime did Wesley serve time for?
  - a. Robbery
  - b. Vehicle Theft
  - c. Aggravated Assault
  - d. Burglary

# **Experimenter Derived Question**

- 1. How willing would you be to hire this applicant?
  - a. 0-100 (0 = being not at all willing; 100 = completely willing)
- 2. What factors contributed to your employment decision regarding Wesley?

## **Demographic Questionnaire Main Study**

- 1. What is your age?
- 2. What is your gender?
  - a. Male
  - b. Female
  - c. Other
- 3. Which race/ethnicity do you most identify with?
  - a. African American or Black
  - b. Hispanic or Latino American
  - c. Asian American
  - d. European American/Caucasian
  - e. Native American
  - f. Pacific Islander American
  - g. Middle Eastern American
  - h. Other (please specify)
- 4. What is the highest educational degree you've obtained?
  - a. Not applicable No degree earned
  - b. High school diploma or equivalent
  - c. Vocational Certifications

- d. Associate's degree
- e. Bachelor's degree
- f. Master's degree
- g. M.D.
- h. Ph.D.
- i. Other (please specify)
- 5. Do you have a previous criminal history? Select all that apply. (All answers are kept confidential)
  - a. No criminal history
  - b. Yes, a non-violent misdemeanor charge
  - c. Yes, a violent misdemeanor charge
  - d. Yes, a non-violent felony charge
  - e. Yes, a violent felony charge
  - f. Rather not disclose
- 6. What is your current marital status?
  - a. Single, never married
  - b. Married
  - c. Domestic Partnership
  - d. Widowed
  - e. Divorced
  - f. Separated
- 7. What is your political affiliation?
  - a. Democrat
  - b. Republican
  - c. Independent
  - d. Libertarian
  - e. Other
  - f. None
- 8. Have you ever been responsible for making hiring decisions?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No
  - c. Not sure
- 9. Do you personally know someone (e.g., spouse, family member, friend, child, work colleague) who has been convicted of robbery?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No
- 10. Do you personally know someone (e.g., spouse, family member, friend, child, work colleague) who has been convicted of burglary?
  - a. Yes

b. No

# APPENDIX H-Table 1 and 2

Table 1 Means and Correlations for dependent variables

Measure	Mean (SD)	GWBQ Total	SDS Total	Willingness to Hire
GWBQ Total	61.48 (9.98)	.917		
SDS Total	7.21 (5.00)	.456**	.901	
Willingness to Hire	` ,	.544**	.697**	†

 $\it Note.$  \*\* denotes significance at the 0.01 level. Reliability (Cronbach's alpha) is reported on the diagonal, † Not applicable

Table 2 Means (Standard Deviations) across conditions for study variables

Condition	Willing to Hire	GWBQ	SDS
Nonviolent (burglary)			
Total	65.22 (26.71)	61.48 (9.87)	7.58 (5.03)
Neither	57.42 (31.81)	56.73 (8.91)	7.06 (6.09)
GED	65.90 (23.30)	63.00 (9.84)	8.29 (4.62)
Certificate	66.55 (23.81)	64.65 (9.24)	6.90 (4.63)
Both	73.96 (23.81)	64.08 (9.73)	7.96 (4.35)
Violent (robbery)			
Total	63.76 (26.84)	61.48 (10.14)	6.82 (4.99)
Neither	65.04 (29.90)	59.24 (9.76)	6.44 (4.98)
GED	59.48 (23.66)	61.00 (9.90)	6.52 (5.40)
Certificate	65.03 (26.14)	62.79 (9.44)	6.86 (4.85)
Both	65.12 (28.24)	62.48 (10.14)	7.29 (5.00)

*Note*. Possible ranges for outcome measures are as follows: Willing to Hire (0 to 100), GWBQ (18 to 90), SDS (0 to 21).

#### REFERENCES

- Albright, S., & Denq, F. (1996). Employer attitudes toward hiring ex-offenders [Electronic version]. *The Prison Journal*, 76(2), 118-137. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0032855596076002002
- Alper, M., Durose, M. R., & Markman, J. (2018). 2018 Update on Prisoner Recidivism:

  A 9- Year Follow-up Period (2005-2014). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of
  Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics
- Andrews, D. A., Bonta, J., & Hoge, R. D. (1990). Classification for effective rehabilitation: Rediscovering psychology. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 17, 19-52. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0093854890017001004
- Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). Rehabilitating criminal justice policy and practice.

  \*Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 16(1), 39–55.

  https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018362
- Bonta, J., & Andrews, D. A. (2010). Viewing offender assessment and rehabilitation through the lens of the risk-need-responsivity model. In F. McNeill, P. Raynor, & C. Trotter (Eds.), Offender supervision: New directions in theory, research and practice (pp. 19–40). Willan.

  https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0093854811406356
- Atkin, C. A., & Armstrong, G. S. (2013). Does the concentration of parolees in a community impact employer attitude toward the hiring of ex-offenders? *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 24(1), 71–93. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0887403411428005">https://doi.org/10.1177/0887403411428005</a>
- Batastini, A. B., Bolaños, A. D., Morgan, R. D. (2014). Attitudes toward hiring applicants with mental illness and criminal justice involvement: The impact of

- education and experience. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 37, 524-533. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1016/j.ijlp.2014.02.025
- Batastini, A. B., Bolaños, A. D., Morgan, R. D., & Mitchell, S. M. (2017). Bias in hiring applicants with mental illness and criminal justice involvement: A follow-up study with employers. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 44(6), 777–795. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854817693663">https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854817693663</a>
- Batastini, A. B., Leuty, M. E., Davis, R. M., & Jones, A. C. (2021). Individual and situational factors predicting employment status among revoked community-released offenders. *Psychological services*, *18*(4), 454.

  <a href="https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ser0000403">https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ser0000403</a>
- Bonta, J., & Andrews, D. A. (2007). Risk-need-responsivity model for offender assessment and rehabilitation (Corrections Research User Report No. 2007-06). Public Safety Canada.
- Bonta, J., & Andrews, D. (2017). *The psychology of criminal conduct* (6th ed.). Routledge.
- Braga, A. A., Piehl, A. M., & Hureau, D. (2009). Controlling violent offenders released to the community: An evaluation of the Boston Reentry Initiative. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 46(4), 411-436.

  https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0022427809341935
- Brenda, B. B., Harm, N. J., & Tombs, N. J. (2005). Survival analysis of recidivism in male and female boot camp graduates using life-course theory. *Rehabilitation Issues, Problems and Prospects in Boot Camp*, 1, 87-113.

https://doi.org/10.1300/J076v40n03\_05

- Brennan, T., Dieterich, W., & Ehret, B. (2009). Evaluating the predictive validity of the Compass Risk and Needs Assessment System. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*, 21-40. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0093854808326545
- Bronson, J., & Carson, E. A. (2019). Prisoners in 2017. *Bureau of Justice Statistics*. U.S. Department of Justice.
- Carnevale, A. T., Gainer, L. J., & Meltzer, A. S. (1990). Workplace basics: The essential skills employers want. Jossey-Bass.
- Cerda, Jessica A., Douglas M. Stenstrom, and Mathew Curtis. (2015). The role of type of offense and work qualifications on perceived employability of former offenders.

  \*American Journal of Criminal Justice 40(2), 317-35.
- Clark, V. A., & Duwe, G. (2015). An outcome evaluation of a prison-based life-skills program: The power of people. *International Journal of Offender Therapy* and Comparative Criminology, 59(4), 384-405.

  https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0306624X13509444
- Coley, R. J., & Barton, P. E. (2006). Locked up and locked out: An educational perspective on the US prison population. Policy information report.

  Educational Testing Service
- Contardo, J., & Tolbert, M. (2008). Prison postsecondary education: Bridging learning from incarceration to the community. *Reentry Roundtable on Education, John Jay College of Criminal Justice*, 78–123.
  - https://johnjay.jjay.cuny.edu/files/ContardoTolbert\_Paper.pdf

- Corrigan, P. W., Edwards, A. B., Green, A., Diwan, S. L., & Penn, D. L. (2001).

  Prejudice, social distance, and familiarity with mental illness. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 27, 219–226. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a006868
- Couloute, L., & Kopf, D. (2018). Out of prison & out of work: Unemployment among formerly incarcerated people. Northampton, MA: Prison Policy Initiative https://www.prisonpolicy.org/reports/outofwork. html
- Davis, L. M., Bozick, R., Steele, J., Saunders, J., & Miles, J. (2013). Education and vocational training in prisons reduces recidivism, improves job outlook. *Rand Corporation*. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research\_reports/RR266.html
- Duwe, G. (2012). Evaluating the Minnesota comprehensive offender reentry plan (MCORP): Results from a randomized experiment. *Justice Quarterly*, 29(3), 347-383. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2011.555414">https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2011.555414</a>
- Duwe, G., & Clark, V. (2014). The effects of prison-based educational programming on recidivism and employment. *The Prison Journal*, 94(4), 454-478.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0032885514548009">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0032885514548009</a></a>
- Fahey, J., Roberts, C., & Engel, L. (2006). *Employment of ex-offenders: Employer perspectives*. Urban Institute Reentry Roundtable.
- Fletcher, D. R. (2001). Ex-offenders, the labour market and the new public administration. *Public Administration*, 79(4), 871-891. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9299.00284
- Formon, D. L., Schmidt, A. T., & Henderson, C. (2018). Examining employment outcomes of offender and nonoffender vocational program

- graduates. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative*Criminology, 62(9), 2781-2800. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0306624X17735041
- Giguere, R., & Dundes, L. (2002). Help wanted: A survey of employer concerns about hiring ex-offenders. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, *13*, 396-408. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F088740302237806
- Graber, J., & Zitek, E. M. (2021). Reducing criminal record discrimination through banning the box: the importance of timing and explanation in the reveal of a drug conviction. *Psychology, Crime & Law*. https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2021.1909018
- Graffam, J., Shinkfield, A. J., & Hardcastle, L. (2008). The perceived employability of ex-prisoners and offenders. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 52, 673–685.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0306624X07307783">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0306624X07307783</a>
- Graffam, J., Shinkfield, A., Lavelle, B., & Hardcastle, L. (2004). Attitudes of employers, corrective services workers, employment support workers, and prisoners and offenders towards employing ex-prisoners and ex-offenders. *Criminology*\*Research Council, 2, 1-65. <a href="http://hdl.handle.net/10536/DRO/DU:30010282">http://hdl.handle.net/10536/DRO/DU:30010282</a>
- Harlow, C. W. (2003). Education and correctional populations. *Bureau of Justice Statistics Special Report*. http://www.bjs.gov/content/pub/pdf/ecp.pdf.
- Heen, M. S., Lieberman, J. D., & Miethe, T. D. (2014). A comparison of different online sampling approaches for generating national samples. *Center for Crime and Justice Policy*, 2014(1), 1-8.

- Henry, J. (2008). Criminal history on a 'Need to Know Basis': Employment policies that eliminate the criminal history box on employment applications. *Justice Policy Journal*, *5*(2), 4-22.
- Hickox, S. A. (2011). Employer liability of negligent hiring of ex-offenders. *Saint Louis University Law Journal*, 55(3), 1001-1046.
- Holzer, H. J. (1996). What employers want: Job prospects for less educated workers.

  Russell Sage.
- Holzer, H. J., & Lerman, R. I. (2009). *The future of middle-skill jobs* (Vol. 41). Brookings, Center on Children and Families.
- Holzer, H. J., Raphael, S., & Stoll, M. A. (2007). The effect of an applicant's criminal history on employer hiring decisions and screening practices: Evidence from Los Angeles. In Bushway, Shawn; Stoll, Michael and David Weiman (ed.)

  \*Barriers to Reentry? The Labor Market for Released Prisoners in Post-Industrial America, Russell Sage Foundation: New York
- Hughes, T., & Wilson, D. J. (2003). Reentry trends in the United States. Inmates returning to the community after serving time in prison. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/reentry.pdf.
- Erisman, W., & Contardo, J. B. (2005). Learning to Reduce Recidivism: A 50-State

  Analysis of Postsecondary Correctional Education Policy. *Institute for Higher Education Policy*.
- Jensen, E. L., & Reed, G. (2006). Adult correctional educational programs: An update on current status based on recent studies. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 44, 81-98. https://doi.org/10.1300/J076v44n01\_05

- Ju, S., Zhang, D., & Pacha, J. (2012). Employability skills valued by employers as important for entry-level employees with and without disabilities. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, 35, 29–38.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0885728811419167">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0885728811419167</a>
- Kachnowski, V. (2005). Returning Home Illinois Policy Brief: Employment and Prisoner Reentry. Washington, DC.: Urban Institute.
- Tyler, J. H., & Kling, J. R. (2006). Prison-based education and re-entry into the mainstream labor market. *Labor Market* (No. 868).
- La Vigne, N. G., & Kachnowski, V. (2005). Texas prisoners' reflections on returning home. <a href="https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/42901/311247-">https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/42901/311247-</a>
  Texas- PrisonersReflections-on-Returning-Home.PDF
- Langan, P. A., & Levin, D. J. (2002). Recidivism of prisoners released in 1994. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 15(1), 58-65. https://doi.org/10.1525/fsr.2002.15.1.58
- Link, B. G., Cullen, F. T., Frank, J., & Wozniak, J. F. (1987). The social rejection of former mental patients: Understanding why labels matter. *American Journal of Sociology*, 92(6), 1461-1500. <a href="https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1086/228672">https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1086/228672</a>
- Lutman, B., Lynch, C., Monk-Turner, E. (2015). De-demonizing the "monstrous" drug addict: A qualitative look at social reintegration through rehabilitation and employment. *Critical Criminology*, 23, 57-72.
- Maier, W. B. (2018) Prison higher education and recidivism: a matched comparison among aa, vocational training, and non-degree earning inmates (Doctoral dissertation, Washington State University).

- Marvin, R. C. (2006). *Inside edition: A job hunting guide for Montanans with a criminal record*. Research & Analysis Bureau Workforce Services Division, Montana Department of Labor and Industry.
- Michon, H. W. C., Kroon, H., van Weeghel, J., & Schene, A. H. (2004). The Generic Work Behavior Questionnaire (GWBQ): Assessment of core dimensions of generic work behavior of people with severe mental illnesses in vocational rehabilitation. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, 28(1), 40–47. https://doi.org/10.2975/28.2004.40.47
- Nally, J. M., Lockwood, S., Ho, T., & Knutson, K. (2014). Post-release recidivism and employment among different types of released offenders: A 5-year follow-up study in the United States. *International Journal of Criminal Justice Sciences*, 9(1) 16-34.
- Nuttall, J., Hollmen, L., & Staley, E. M. (2003). The effect of earning a GED on recidivism rates. *Journal of Correctional Education* 54(3): 90-94.
- Pager, D. (2003). The mark of a criminal record. *American Journal of Sociology*, 108, 937-75.
- Pager, D., Western, B., & Sugie, N. (2009). Sequencing disadvantage: Barriers to employment facing young black and white men with criminal records. *The Annals of The American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 623(1), 195-213.
- Petersilia, J. (2001). When prisoners return to communities: Political, economic, and social consequences. *Federal Probation*, 65, 3–8.

- Rampell, C. (2014). The college degree has become the new high school degree. *The Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/catherine-rampell-the-college-degree-has-become-the-new-high-school-degree/2014/09/08/e935b68c-378a-11e4-8601-97ba88884ffd\_story.html
- Robinson, J. P. (2000). What are employability skills. *The workplace*, 1, 1–3.
- Rosenstiel, T., Mitchell, A., Purcell, K. & Raine, L. (2011). How people learn about their local community. *Pew Research Center*.

https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2011/09/26/how-people-learn-about-their-local- community/

- Sampson, R. J., & Laub, J. H. (2003). Desistance from crime over the life course. In J. T. Mortimer & M. J. Shanahan (Eds.), *Handbook of the Life Course* (pp. 295–309). Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-306-48247-2\_14">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-306-48247-2\_14</a>
- Secretary's Commission on Achieving Necessary Skills. (1991). What Work Requires of Schools: A SCANS Report for America 2000. U.S. Department of Labor.
- Severson, M. E., Veeh, C., Bruns, K., & Lee, J. (2012). Who goes back to prison; who does not: A multiyear view of reentry program participants. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 51(5), 295-315. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2012.677944">https://doi.org/10.1080/10509674.2012.677944</a>
- Snider, J. S., & Reysen, S. (2014). Effect of framing of reentry program on perceptions of ex-offenders. *World Journal of Social Science Research*, 1(1), 68–88.

  <a href="http://www.scholink.org/ojs/index.php/wjssr/article/view/198/184">http://www.scholink.org/ojs/index.php/wjssr/article/view/198/184</a>

- Swanson, S. J., Langfitt-Reese, S., & Bond, G. R. (2012). Employer attitudes about criminal histories. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal*, *35*(5), 385-390. doi:10.1037/h0094498
- Tabachnick, B., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics*. (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Pearson Education.
- Taxman, F. S., Thanner, M., & Weisburd, D. (2006). Risk, need, and responsivity (RNR):

  It all depends. *Crime & Delinquency*, 52(1), 28-51.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0011128705281754">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0011128705281754</a>
- Travis, J. (2011). Rethinking prison education in the era of mass incarceration.

  In University Faculty Senate Conference on Higher Education in the Prisons

  (City University Graduate Center, 4 February 2011) (Vol. 4).
- Tripodi, S. J., Kim, J. S., & Bender, K. (2010). Is employment associated with reduced recidivism? The complex relationship between employment and crime. *International journal of offender therapy and comparative* criminology, 54(5), 706-720. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0306624X09342980
- Troyatlms. (2016, March 16). The relationship between incarceration and low literacy.

  The Official Blog of Literacy Mid-South.

  <a href="https://literacymidsouth.wordpress.com/2016/03/16/incarceration-and-low-literacy/">https://literacymidsouth.wordpress.com/2016/03/16/incarceration-and-low-literacy/</a>
- Varghese, F. P., Hardin, E. E., & Bauer, R. L. (2009). Factors influencing the employability of Latinos: The roles of ethnicity, criminal history, and qualifications. *Race and Social Problem*, 1, 171–181.

Varghese, F. P., Hardin, E. E., Bauer, R. L., & Morgan, R. D. (2010). Attitudes toward

hiring offenders: The roles of criminal history, job qualifications, and race.

International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 54,

769 –782. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0306624X09344960">https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0306624X09344960</a>

Young, N. C. J., & Powell, G. N. (2015). Hiring ex-offenders: A theoretical

model. Human Resource Management Review, 25(3), 298-312

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2014.11.001